
Directors’ responsibility statement

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, Basil Read 
Holdings Limited has, in respect of the financial year reported upon, lodged with the Registrar of Companies all returns required of a public 
company in terms of the above mentioned Act and that all such returns are true and up to date.

A Ndoni
Company secretary

8 May 2015

Certificate by company secretary

The directors have pleasure in presenting the summarised consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2014 and 
the complete consolidated and company annual financial statements for the same period (included in the 2014 financial report) (collectively 
the financial statements). The consolidated and company annual financial statements were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc, who 
expressed an unmodified opinion thereon. The audited consolidated and company annual financial statements and the auditors’ report 
thereon are available on the company’s website, (www.basilread.co.za), or are available for inspection at the company’s registered office. 
The summarised consolidated financial statements are extracted from audited information, but are not themselves audited.

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements of Basil Read Holdings Limited 
and its subsidiaries. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and 
include amounts based upon judgements and estimates made by management.

The directors consider that in preparing the financial statements they have used the most appropriate accounting policies, consistently 
applied and supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS that they consider to be applicable have been 
followed. The directors are satisfied that the information contained in the financial statements fairly presents the results of operations for the 
year and the financial position of the group at year-end. The directors also prepared the other information included in the annual report and 
are responsible for both its accuracy and consistency with the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept. The accounting records should disclose with reasonable 
accuracy the financial position of the group companies to enable the directors to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
relevant legislation.

Basil Read Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries operate in a well-established control environment, which is well documented and regularly 
reviewed. This incorporates risk management and internal control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, since the directors have no reason to believe that the group will 
not be a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. These financial statements support the 
viability of the company and the group.

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 May 2015 and are signed on their behalf by:

 
PC Baloyi  NF Nicolau
Chairman Chief executive officer

8 May 2015 8 May 2015
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Summarised consolidated annual financial statements

These consolidated annual financial statements comprise a summary of the audited consolidated annual financial statements of the group 
for the year ended 31 December 2014 that were approved by the board on 8 May 2015.

The summarised consolidated annual financial statements are not the group’s statutory accounts and do not contain all the disclosures 
required by IFRS. Reading the summarised consolidated annual financial statements, therefore, is not a substitute for reading the audited 
consolidated annual financial statements of the group, as they do not contain sufficient information to allow for a complete understanding of 
the results and state of affairs of the group. The audited consolidated annual financial statements are available online at www.basilread.co.za, 
or are available for inspection at the company’s registered office. The annual financial statements have been audited by the group’s auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. The summarised consolidated financial statements are extracted from audited information, but are not 
themselves audited.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
The summarised consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the JSE Limited’s (JSE) requirements  
for summarised financial statements, and the requirements of the Companies Act applicable to summarised financial statements.  
The JSE requires summarised financial statements to be prepared in accordance with the framework concepts and the measurement and 
recognition requirements of IFRS, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 
Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, and to also, as a minimum, contain the information required by 
IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. The accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements, from which 
the summarised consolidated financial statements were derived, are in terms of IFRS and are consistent with the accounting policies applied 
in the preparation of the previous consolidated annual financial statements.

The summarised consolidated annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain items, including 
derivatives and investment property that are stated at fair value, and are presented in South African rand, which is the parent company’s 
presentation currency.

The significant accounting policies and methods of computation are consistent in all material respects with those applied in the previous 
period. The summarised consolidated annual financial statements should be read with the full set of annual financial statements as available 
on the company’s website.

The financial statements were prepared by the chief financial officer, Amanda Wightman CA(SA), and approved by the board of directors 
on 8 May 2015 and are signed on its behalf by:

 
PC Baloyi  NF Nicolau
Chairman Chief executive officer

8 May 2015 8 May 2015
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

The directors present their 30th integrated report, which forms part of the audited financial statements of the company and of the group 
for the year ended 31 December 2014.

NATURE OF BUSINESS
Basil Read is one of the top construction companies in South Africa. The company is listed on the JSE Limited and its subsidiary companies 
are active in the areas of civil engineering, road construction, building, mixed integrated housing developments, property development, 
bitumen distribution, opencast mining, blasting and excavating. These subsidiaries operate throughout sub-Saharan Africa.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was declared in respect of the year ended 31 December 2014.

A special dividend of 175 cents per share was declared on 14 March 2013 following the completion of the disposal of  TWP Holdings (Pty) Ltd. 
The dividend was paid to shareholders on 24 June 2013.

SHARE CAPITAL
There was no change to the issued share capital of the company in the 2014 and 2013 financial years.

OPERATING RESULTS
The summarised financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the group for the year ended 31 December 2014 are set out 
on pages 116 to 136.

The group made a loss after taxation from continuing operations of R742 million (2013: profit of R91 million) during the year under review.

The group made a loss after taxation from discontinued operations of R79 million (2013: profit of R190 million) during the year 
under review.

GOING CONCERN
At the statement of financial position date, the current liabilities of the group exceed the current assets by R417 million. The group has 
R0,9 billion in undrawn facilities with various financial institutions as at 31 December 2014.

The order book for the 2015 financial year is largely secure and the group is forecasting a return to profitability. Operating cash flows in 
the 2015 year are expected to be cash generative and provide a positive indicator of the group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

To further support liquidity, the following actions are being taken:
➜➜ Refinancing of the R125 million bond maturing in June 2015 – negotiations are ongoing with the current bondholder.  Alternative 
investors are also being sought. Refer to note 6 for further information regarding the maturing bond.
➜➜ Disposal of non-core assets – plans to dispose certain non-core assets are under way, with the disposal of LYT having been completed 
in February 2015. Further disposals are expected to yield between R200 million and R300 million in cash.
➜➜ Resolution of outstanding claims – management is advancing the claims resolution process where applicable in order to resolve claims as 
speedily as possible while ensuring that the company is fairly rewarded for actual work done.

The directors, therefore, have no reason to believe that the group will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future and for this reason 
have prepared the financial statements on a going-concern basis.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
The group acquired property, plant and equipment to the amount of R339 million (2013: R255 million) during the year.

INVESTMENTS
Subsidiaries
On 1 April 2014, the group acquired the entire issued share capital of Hytronix (Pty) Ltd for a cash consideration of R4,2 million. The core 
business of Hytronix is the construction of mining equipment.

On 1 December 2014, the group disposed of its 51% stake in AngloAfrican Insurance Brokers (Pty) Ltd for no consideration, resulting in the 
recognition of a loss on disposal of R1,8 million.
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Directors’ report continued

Associates
On 1 November 2014, the company disposed of its 20% stake in BR-Tsima Construction (Pty) Ltd for no consideration. The transaction 
resulted in the company recognising a profit on disposal of R0,7 million.

During the year, the company disposed of its 23% stake in Metrowind (Pty) Ltd, resulting in the recognition of a loss on disposal of 
R10,5 million. The company subsequently acquired a 23% stake in Rubicept (Pty) Ltd, owner of the Metrowind Van Stadens wind farm in 
Port Elizabeth.

BORROWINGS 
Interest-bearing borrowings comprise instalment sale agreements and a domestic medium-term note programme. During the year, 
borrowings increased due to an increase in the domestic medium-term note programme, which was partly offset by the repayment of 
instalment sale agreements.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
Basil Read concluded the disposal of LYT Architecture on 1 February 2015 for a purchase consideration of R42 million.

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
Details of shareholder categories are set out on page 137 of this report.

DIRECTORATE
The following were directors of the company during the year under review:

Paul Cambo Baloyi* Independent non-executive director, chairman

Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni# Independent non-executive director, chairman

Neville Francis Nicolau^ Chief executive officer, managing director

Terence Desmond Hughes~ Interim chief executive officer, interim managing director, non-executive director

Marius Lodewucus Heyns• Chief executive officer, managing director

Amanda Claire Wightman+ Chief financial officer, financial director

Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi Non-executive director 

Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba Non-executive director 

Thabiso Alexander Tlelai Non-executive director 

Charles Peter Davies∆ Independent non-executive director 

Doris Liana Theresia Dondur◊ Independent non-executive director 

Mahomed Salim Ismail Gani■ Independent non-executive director 

Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila∆ Independent non-executive director 

Claudia Estelle Manning Independent non-executive director 

* Appointed as chairman 1 January 2015
# Retired 31 December 2014
^ Appointed 1 September 2014
~  Appointed as interim chief executive officer 1 June 2014; resigned as interim chief executive officer 31 August 2014; appointed as non-executive director  

1 January 2015
• Retired 30 May 2014
+ Appointed 13 October 2014
∆ Retired by rotation 26 June 2014
◊ Appointed 24 June 2014
■ Appointed 15 April 2015
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DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive directors

Cash portion 
of package

 R 
Benefits*

 R 

Incentive 
bonus

 R 

Gain 
on share 
options

 exercised
 R 

Total
 R 

2014
Paid by Basil Read Limited
Marius Lodewucus Heyns#  1 253 327  208 797 12 324 775  – 13 786 899
Terence Desmond Hughes^  701 471  13 498  –  –  714 969 
Neville Francis Nicolau~  1 459 513  224 552  –  –  1 684 065 
Amanda Claire Wightman•  482 435  74 141  –  –  556 576 

 3 896 746  520 988 12 324 775  – 16 742 509

2013
Paid by Basil Read Limited
Marius Lodewucus Heyns  3 099 397  470 925  10 921 036  –  14 491 358 
Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia+  1 206 521  216 450  2 000 000  –  3 422 971 
Pieter Jacob Marais∆  1 196 214  189 926  –  –  1 386 140 

 5 502 132  877 301  12 921 036  –  19 300 469 
Paid by TWP Projects (Pty) Ltd
Nigel John Townshend◊  548 716  86 106  –  –  634 822 

 6 050 848  963 407  12 921 036  –  19 935 291 

* Benefits include the company’s contribution towards medical aid and provident fund
#  Retired 30 May 2014. The incentive bonus for Mr Heyns refers to the long-term incentive bonus which accrued to him and was paid in March 2014, calculated in 

terms of the long-term incentive policy as disclosed in the 2013 annual financial statements. Refer to page 77 for further information
^ Appointed 1 June 2014; resigned 31 August 2014
~ Appointed 1 September 2014
• Appointed 13 October 2014
+ Resigned 30 May 2013
∆ Appointed 30 May 2013; resigned 22 November 2013
◊ Resigned 12 March 2013

Non-executive directors

Services 
as director

 R 
Total

 R 

2014
Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni*  1 198 000  1 198 000 
Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi  470 000  470 000 
Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  490 000  490 000 
Thabiso Alexander Tlelai#  444 000  444 000 
Paul Cambo Baloyi  620 000  620 000 
Charles Peter Davies^  383 500  383 500 
Doris Liana Theresia Dondur~  262 500  262 500 
Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila^  266 000  266 000 
Claudia Estelle Manning  530 500  530 500 

 4 664 500  4 664 500 

* Retired 31 December 2014
# Paid to the companies that these directors represent
^ Retired by rotation 26 June 2014
~ Appointed 24 June 2014
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Directors’ report continued

Non-executive directors

Services 
as director

 R 
Total

 R 

2013
Sindile Lester Leslie Peteni  956 000  956 000 
Andrew Conway Gaorekwe Molusi∆  424 667  424 667 
Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba#  381 500  381 500 
Thabiso Alexander Tlelai#  599 000  599 000 
Paul Cambo Baloyi  540 833  540 833 
Charles Peter Davies  768 500  768 500 
Nopasika Vuyelwa Lila  570 500  570 500 
Claudia Estelle Manning  493 500  493 500 

 4 734 500  4 734 500 
∆ Appointed 14 March 2013
# Paid to the companies that these directors represent

Directors’ fees for the 2014 financial year were paid according to the following table:

With effect from 1 January 2014
 Member

R 
 Chairman

R 

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 
Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 
Audit committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 
Audit committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Risk committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Nominations and investment committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Ad hoc meetings – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

Directors’ fees are reviewed annually. It is proposed that directors’ fees remain unchanged as follows:

With effect from 1 January 2015
 Member

R 
 Chairman

R 

Board – retainer  140 000  500 000 
Board – per meeting  17 500  33 000 
Audit committee – retainer  70 000  140 000 
Audit committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Risk committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Risk committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Remuneration committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Remuneration committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – retainer  70 000  130 000 
Social, ethics and transformation committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Nominations and investment committee – per meeting  7 000  14 000 
Ad hoc meetings – per meeting  7 000  14 000 

These fees have been waived by the executive directors. Fees are paid quarterly in arrears.
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Cash portion 
of package

 R 
Benefits*

 R 

Incentive 
bonus

 R 

Gain 
on share 
options

 exercised
 R 

Total
 R 

Prescribed officers
2014
Christopher John Erasmus#■  1 417 181  249 465  –  –  1 666 646 
Antonie Fourie# 2 119 823 267 861  –  – 2 387 684
Olivier Jean-Paul Giot  2 706 213  –  –  –  2 706 213 
Guenther Hellhoff•  977 409  133 793  –  –  1 111 202 
Terence Desmond Hughes+  935 295  17 997  –  –  953 292 
James Stephen Johnston  2 133 424  336 653  –  –  2 470 077 
Khathutshelo Mapasa∆  1 219 939  180 147  –  –  1 400 086 
Avinash Naidoo◊  1 116 954  155 862  –  –  1 272 816 
Andiswa Ndoni  1 489 095  252 297  –  –  1 741 392 
Amanda Claire Wightman#>  1 447 303  222 421  –  –  1 669 724 

15 562 636 1 816 496  –  – 17 379 132

2013
Christopher John Erasmus#  2 077 619  352 593  –  –  2 430 212 
Antonie Fourie#  1 938 497  235 959  2 000 000  –  4 174 456 
Digby John Glover#~  466 630  67 972  –  –  534 602 
Guenther Hellhoff  1 631 851  223 446  500 000  –  2 355 297 
Avinash Naidoo  1 059 034  138 482  –  –  1 197 516 
Amanda Claire Wightman#^  353 769  43 866  83 333  –  480 968 

7 527 400 1 062 318 2 583 333  – 11 173 051

Three next highest earners
2014
Employee A  1 858 217  273 062  –    –    2 131 279 
Employee B  1 688 870  254 028  –    –    1 942 898 
Employee C  1 681 734  217 655  –    –    1 899 389 

 5 228 821  744 745  –    –    5 973 566 

2013
Employee A  1 788 807  295 848  1 500 000  –    3 584 655 
Employee B  2 357 224  78 763  –    –    2 435 987 
Employee C  1 863 807  236 761 – –  2 100 568 

 6 009 838  611 372  1 500 000  –    8 121 210 

* Benefits include the company’s contribution towards medical aid, provident fund and expatriate costs
# Paid by group subsidiary companies
■ Until 30 September 2014
• Until 30 June 2014
+ From 1 September 2014
∆ From 1 May 2014
◊ Until 14 November 2014
> Until 12 October 2014
~ Until 12 March 2013
^ From 22 November 2013

The following prescribed officers received once-off payments in the 2014 financial year :
R 

Christopher John Erasmus 5 330 000
Guenther Hellhoff 1 620 000
Terence Desmond Hughes 1 600 000
Avinash Naidoo 770 000

9 320 000
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Directors’ report continued

DIRECTORS’ AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS’ EQUITY-SETTLED INSTRUMENTS
Executive directors
The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R 

Marius Lodewucus Heyns
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  380 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments lapsed during the year due to resignation  (380 000)  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  –  13,95 

Amanda Claire Wightman
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  32 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  32 000  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2014.

The directors held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R

Marius Lodewucus Heyns
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  380 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  380 000  13,95 

Manuel Donnell Grota Gouveia
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  105 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments lapsed during the year due to resignation  (105 000)  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  –  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2013.
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Prescribed officers
The following prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R 

Christopher John Erasmus
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  145 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments lapsed during the year due to resignation  (145 000)  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  –  13,95 

Antonie Fourie
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  90 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  90 000  13,95 

Olivier Jean-Paul Giot
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  105 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  105 000  13,95 

James Stephen Johnston
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2014  90 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2014  90 000  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2014.
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

The following prescribed officers held the following equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013:

 Number 

 Average 
strike price 

R

 Average
 exercise price

R 

Christopher John Erasmus
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  145 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  145 000  13,95 

Antonie Fourie
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  90 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  90 000  13,95 

Amanda Claire Wightman
Equity-settled instruments at 1 January 2013  32 000  13,95  – 
Equity-settled instruments granted during the year  –  –  – 
Equity-settled instruments exercised during the year  –  –  – 

Equity-settled instruments at 31 December 2013  32 000  13,95 

All of these options had vested by 31 December 2013.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE CAPITAL
The interests, direct and indirect, of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

Direct Indirect

2014
Number

2013
Number

2014
Number

2013
Number

Beneficial
Sango Siviwe Ntsaluba  6 986  6 986  2 776 939  2 776 939 
Thabiso Alexander Tlelai  –  –  2 774 953  2 774 953 
Neville Francis Nicolau  –  – 100 000 –
Christopher John Erasmus  –  147 628  –  – 

6 986  154 614  5 651 892  5 551 892 

Shares held by associates  –  –  –  – 

6 986  154 614  5 651 892  5 551 892 

The company’s directors did not trade in shares between year-end and the date the financial statements were authorised for issue.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME
The direct interests of the directors and officers at the date of this report are as follows:

 Number 
of unissued

 shares 

% of 
unissued 

shares

% held 
once shares 

issued

2014
Direct
Antonie Fourie  90 000 7,35  0,07 
Olivier Jean-Paul Giot  105 000 8,58  0,08 
James Stephen Johnston  90 000 7,35  0,07 
Amanda Claire Wightman  32 000 2,61  0,02 

2013
Direct
Marius Lodewucus Heyns  380 000  20,52  0,29 
Christopher John Erasmus  145 000  7,83  0,11 
Antonie Fourie  90 000  4,86  0,07 
Amanda Claire Wightman  32 000  1,73  0,02 

The right to the unissued shares are in terms of the Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme. 

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS PASSED BY SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
The following special resolutions were passed by subsidiary companies during the year ended 31 December 2014:
➜➜ Special resolution by Basil Read Holdings Limited, in its capacity as shareholder of Basil Read Limited, authorising Basil Read Limited to 
provide financial assistance to its subsidiaries and other group companies in accordance with section 45 of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008, as amended
➜➜ Special resolution by Basil Read Holdings Limited, in its capacity as shareholder of Basil Read Limited, authorising Basil Read Limited to 
convert from a private to public company and adopt a new memorandum of incorporation. 

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc will continue in office in accordance with section 90(6) of the Companies Act. At the annual general meeting, 
shareholders will be requested to appoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as the group’s auditors for the 2015 financial year.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary is Ms Andiswa Ndoni.

REGISTERED OFFICE 
The Basil Read Campus 
7 Romeo Street 
Hughes extension 
Boksburg 
1459

POSTAL ADDRESS 
Private Bag X170 
Bedfordview 
2008 
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated income statement

Notes
 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Revenue  6 502 407  6 218 152 
Contracting revenue  6 173 315  6 000 301 
Other revenue – development fees  193 699  40 086 
Other revenue – construction materials and services  135 393  177 765 
Contracting and other costs  (6 247 101)  (5 346 990)
Other administrative and operating overheads  (585 524)  (500 053)
Depreciation, impairment and amortisation of fixed assets  (562 967)  (323 088)
Other income  4  506 
Other (losses)/gains – net  (13 056)  6 701 

Operating (loss)/profit  (906 237)  55 228 
Interest received  29 605  45 035 
Foreign exchange  (688)  33 031 
Interest paid  (55 119)  (65 396)

(Loss)/profit before share of profit from investments accounted for using the 
equity method  (932 439)  67 898 
Share of profit of investments accounted for using the equity method  39 539  45 166 

(Loss)/profit before taxation  (892 900)  113 064 
Taxation  150 682  (21 691)

Net (loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations  (742 218)  91 373 

DISCONTINUED OPERATION
Net loss for the year from discontinued operations 1  (78 661)  (3 079)
Profit on disposal of discontinued operations  –  257 332 
Tax on disposal  –  (64 156)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470 

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the company  (789 938)  310 742 
Non-controlling interests  (30 941)  (29 272)

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470 

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents) 2  (599,87)  235,97 
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents) 2  (599,87)  235,97 
(Loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 2  (540,14)  98,54 
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from continuing operations (cents) 2  (540,14)  98,54 
(Loss)/earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents) 2  (59,73) 137,43
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share from discontinued operations (cents) 2  (59,73) 137,43
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000

Net (loss)/profit for the year  (820 879)  281 470 
Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss  12 860  7 900
Movement in foreign currency translation reserve  12 936 12 003
Movement in fair value adjustment reserve  (76)  (5 043)
Fair value adjustment  (95)  (5 043)
Foreign exchange difference  19  – 
Deferred tax effect on other comprehensive income  – 940

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (808 019) 289 370

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year attributable to 
the following:
Equity shareholders of the company  (775 921) 314 158
Non-controlling interests  (32 098) (24 788)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year  (808 019) 289 370
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as at 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

Notes
 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets  1 669 708  1 914 321 
Property, plant and equipment 3  1 080 248  1 138 147 
Investment property  5 826  5 730 
Intangible assets 4  99 938  411 829 
Investments accounted for using the equity method  24 532  125 566 
Loans to investments accounted for using the equity method  107 268  61 029 
Deferred income tax assets  300 607  120 636 
Available-for-sale financial assets  477  572 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  50 812  50 812 
Current assets  2 552 957  2 804 193 
Inventories  33 067  41 958 
Development land  268 022  363 120 
Contract and trade debtors 5  1 169 111  974 237 
Receivables and prepayments  114 849  97 408 
Derivative financial instruments  –  2 577 
Current income tax assets  57 093  66 768 
Cash and cash equivalents  910 815  1 258 125 
Non-current assets held for sale  53 112  – 

Total assets  4 275 777  4 718 514 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves  1 133 544  1 909 465 
Stated capital  1 048 025  1 048 025 
Retained earnings  61 513  851 451 
Other reserves 24 006 9 989
Non-controlling interests  (97 992)  (38 207)

Total capital and reserves  1 035 552  1 871 258 

Non-current liabilities  259 965  309 768 
Interest-bearing borrowings 6  215 898  263 086 
Deferred income tax liabilities  44 067  46 682 
Current liabilities  2 970 241  2 537 488 
Trade and other payables  2 282 411  2 138 276 
Current income tax liabilities  5 011  38 273 
Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 6  273 594  163 314 
Loans from investments accounted for using the equity method  –  5 938 
Derivative financial instruments  223  1 395 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges  318 766  134 651 
Bank overdraft  90 236  55 641 
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets classified as held for sale  10 019  – 

Total equity and liabilities  4 275 777  4 718 514 
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of changes in equity

 Share 
capital 
 R’000 

Treasury
shares
R’000

 Foreign
 currency

 translation
 reserve* 

 R’000 

 Fair 
value

 adjustment
 reserve 

 R’000 

 Retained
 earnings 

 R’000 

 Total 
attributable 
to owners 

of the
 parent 
 R’000 

 Non-
controlling

 interests 
 R’000 

 Total 
equity 
 R’000 

Balance at 1 January 2013  1 048 037 (12)  1 252  (377)  750 654  1 799 554  24 768  1 824 322 
Disposal of subsidiary  –  –  4 989  709  –  5 698  (15 272)  (9 574)
Transactions with minorities  –  –  –  –  20 518  20 518  (20 518)  – 
Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  7 519  (4 103)  310 742  314 158  (24 788)  289 370 
Dividends paid  –  –  –  –  (230 463)  (230 463)  (2 397)  (232 860)

Balance at 31 December 2013  1 048 037 (12)  13 760  (3 771)  851 451  1 909 465  (38 207)  1 871 258 
Disposal of subsidiary  –  –  –  –  –  –  1 777  1 777
Capital distribution to non-controlling interests  –  –  –  –  –  –  (29 464)  (29 464)
Net loss for the year  –  –  –  –   (789 938)  (789 938)  (30 941)  (820 879)
Other comprehensive income for the year  –  –  14 093  (76) – 14 017  (1 157)  12 860

Balance at 31 December 2014  1 048 037 (12)  27 853  (3 847)  61 513  1 133 544  (97 992)  1 035 552 

*  The foreign currency translation reserve is the result of exchange differences arising from the translation of the group’s foreign operations to the group’s presentation currency, the rand.

Overview 2 – 19
Company performance 22 – 39

Divisional review 42 – 51
Governance 54 – 81
Sustainability 84 – 103

Summarised financial and shareholders’ information 104 – 148

119 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

 



for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes
 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (201 655)  (2 715)
Cash generated by operating activities 7  (118 330)  284 427 
Net finance (costs)/income  (25 310)  13 670 
Dividends paid  (4)  (232 640)
Taxation paid  (58 011)  (68 172)

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (45 593)  689 926 
Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment 3  (188 939)  (212 283)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  62 908  93 101 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  (3 847)  – 
Disposal of subsidiaries  (37)  839 214 
Acquisition of jointly controlled entity  –  (1)
Advances made to jointly controlled entities  (16 118)  (15 354)
Advances recovered from jointly controlled entities  5 234  – 
Disposal of associate  86  – 
Advances made to associates  (161)  (20 468)
Advances recovered from associates 8 499  5 711 
Dividends received from associates 86 782  – 
Disposal of available-for-sale financial asset  –  6 
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (116 838)  (506 682)
Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings 6 100 000  125 000 
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings 6  (187 374)  (618 432)
Repayments of other borrowings  –  (13 250)
Capital distribution to non-controlling interest parties  (29 464)  – 
Effects of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents  (2 734)  (23 767)

Movement in cash and cash equivalents  (366 820)  156 762 
Cash and cash equivalents – at the beginning of the year  1 202 484  1 045 722 

Cash and cash equivalents – at the end of the year  835 664  1 202 484 

Included in cash and cash equivalents as per the statement of financial position  820 579  1 202 484 
Included in the assets of the disposal group  15 085  – 

 835 664  1 202 484 
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements

 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

1. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
The assets and liabilities relating to LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd (part of the engineering 
segment) were presented as held for sale in the current year following the approval of 
the board of directors to sell the company. The sale was concluded on 1 February 2015.

ASSET AND LIABILITIES
Assets of company classified as held for sale
Property, plant and equipment  3 700  – 
Intangible asset  8 352  – 
Deferred income tax assets  205  – 
Contract and trade debtors  21 310  – 
Current income tax asset  860  – 
Receivables and prepayments  3 514  – 
Cash and cash equivalents  15 171  – 

 53 112  – 

Liabilities of company classified as held for sale
Trade and other payables  9 933  – 
Bank overdraft  86  – 

 10 019  – 

INCOME STATEMENT OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Revenue  82 403 276 554
Expenses  (160 857) (279 361)
Net finance income  892 846

Profit before taxation of discontinued operations  (77 562) (1 961)
Taxation  (1 099) (1 118)

Profit after taxation of discontinued operations  (78 661) (3 079)
Movement in fair value adjustment reserve  –  – 

Profit for the year from discontinued operations  (78 661) (3 079)

CASH FLOWS OF DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Operating cash flows  (7 857) 15 414
Investing cash flows  (1 425) (3 259) 
Financing cash flows  –  – 

Total cash flows  (9 282) 12 155
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

 2014
R’000 

 2013
R’000 

2. EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (599,87)  235,97 
The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss after 
taxation of R789 937 994 (2013: profit of R310 741 569) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (362,08)  86,99 
The calculation of headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated 
headline loss after taxation of R476 809 019 (2013: profit of R114 558 128) and 
the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904  
(2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (599,87)  235,97 
The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss  
after taxation of R789 937 994 (2013: profit of R310 741 569) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (362,08)  86,99 
The calculation of diluted headline (loss)/earnings per share is based on the  
consolidated headline loss after taxation of R476 809 019 (2013: profit of  
R114 558 128) and the weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of  
131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

CONTINUING OPERATIONS

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (540,14)  98,54 
The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss after 
taxation of R711 276 794 (2013: profit of R129 762 586) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (540,14)  98,54 
The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated loss 
after taxation of R711 276 794 (2013: profit of R129 762 586) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(Loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (59,73)  137,43 
The calculation of (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated (loss)/profit 
after taxation of R78 661 000 (2013: profit of R180 979 183) and the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904 (2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share (cents)  (59,73)  137,43 
The calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share is based on the consolidated  
(loss)/profit after taxation of R78 661 000 (2013: profit of R180 979 183) and the 
weighted average number of shares in issue during the year of 131 685 904  
(2013: 131 685 904) shares.

Reconciliation between basic (loss)/earnings, diluted (loss)/earnings and headline 
(loss)/earnings is as follows:
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings  (789 938)  310 742 
Adjusted by the after tax effect of the following:

Loss/(profit) on sale of subsidiary  1 479  (193 176)
Loss on sale of associate  8 010  – 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (730)  (1 470)
Impairment of goodwill  304 370  – 
Fair value gains on revaluation of investment property  –  (1 538)

Headline (loss)/earnings  (476 809)  114 558 
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2. EARNINGS PER SHARE continued

 Number 
‘000 

 Number
 ‘000 

Reconciliation between weighted average number of shares and diluted weighted 
average number of shares:
Weighted average number of shares  131 686  131 686 
Adjusted by: “A” ordinary shares  –  – 
Adjusted by: Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme  –  – 

Diluted weighted average number of shares  131 686  131 686 

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
 Land and 
buildings 

R’000

 Plant and 
equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 
and fittings

R’000 
 Total 
R’000

At 1 January 2013
Cost  26 599  2 276 385  39 912  2 342 896 
Accumulated depreciation  (2 320)  (1 046 111)  (22 338)  (1 070 769)

Net book amount  24 279  1 230 274  17 574  1 272 127 

Year ended 31 December 2013
Opening net book amount  24 279  1 230 274  17 574  1 272 127 
Additions  11 841  230 355  12 752  254 948 
Disposals  (571)  (91 543)  820  (91 294)
Depreciation  (5)  (315 626)  (8 661)  (324 292)
Exchange differences  14  29 178  –  29 192 
Transferred to investment property  (2 534)  –  –  (2 534)

Closing net book amount  33 024  1 082 638  22 485  1 138 147 

At 31 December 2013
Cost  33 499  2 392 322  51 015  2 476 836 
Accumulated depreciation  (475)  (1 309 684)  (28 530)  (1 338 689)

Net book amount  33 024  1 082 638  22 485  1 138 147 

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net book amount  33 024  1 082 638  22 485  1 138 147 
Additions  –  336 145  2 929  339 074 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  – 1 004 5 1 009
Disposals  –  (61 964)  (47)  (62 011)
Depreciation   –   (334 422)  (7 982)  (342 404)
Exchange differences  21  10 107  5  10 133 
Transferred to assets held for sale  –  (349)  (3 351)  (3 700)

Closing net book amount  33 045  1 033 159  14 044  1 080 248 

At 31 December 2014
Cost  33 386  2 609 671  44 810  2 687 867 
Accumulated depreciation  (341)  (1 576 512)  (30 766)  (1 607 619)

Net book amount  33 045  1 033 159  14 044  1 080 248 

Overview 2 – 19
Company performance 22 – 39

Divisional review 42 – 51
Governance 54 – 81
Sustainability 84 – 103

Summarised financial and shareholders’ information 104 – 148

123 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

 



Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Book value of plant and equipment subject to instalment sale agreements is as follows:

 Land and 
buildings 

R’000

 Plant and 
equipment 

R’000

 Furniture 
and fittings

R’000 
 Total 
R’000

At 31 December 2014
Instalment sale agreements
Cost  –  692 922  –  692 922 
Accumulated depreciation  –  (314 746)  –  (314 746)

 –  378 176  –  378 176 

At 31 December 2013
Instalment sale agreements
Cost  –  670 073  –  670 073 
Accumulated depreciation  –  (283 371)  –  (283 371)

 –  386 702  –  386 702 

A full register of the group’s land and buildings is available for inspection at the registered office.

Assets under construction, included in plant and equipment, amount to R30,8 million (2013: R13,3 million).

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 Goodwill 
R’000

 Contract-based
 intangibles 

R’000
 Total 
R’000

At 1 January 2013
Cost  439 789  80 177  519 966 
Accumulated amortisation  –  (74 874)  (74 874)
Accumulated impairment  (32 403)  –  (32 403)

Net book amount  407 386  5 303  412 689 

Year ended 31 December 2013
Opening net book amount  407 386  5 303  412 689 
Amortisation charge  –  (860)  (860)

Closing net book amount  407 386  4 443  411 829 

At 31 December 2013
Cost  439 789  80 177  519 966 
Accumulated amortisation  –  (75 734)  (75 734)
Accumulated impairment  (32 403)  –  (32 403)

Net book amount  407 386  4 443  411 829 
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

 Goodwill 
R’000

 Contract-based
 intangibles 

R’000
 Total 
R’000

Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net book amount  407 386  4 443  411 829 
Acquisition of subsidiary  1 691  –  1 691 
Amortisation charge  –  (860)  (860)
Impairment – continuing operations  (222 212)  –  (222 212)
Impairment – discontinued operations  (82 158)  –  (82 158)
Transferred to assets held for sale  (8 352)  –  (8 352)

Closing net book amount  96 355  3 583  99 938 

At 31 December 2014
Cost 433 128  80 177 513 305
Accumulated amortisation  –  (76 594)  (76 594)
Accumulated impairment  (336 773)  –  (336 773)

Net book amount  96 355  3 583  99 938 

Goodwill is allocated to the company’s cash-generating units identified according to the business segments that fall within the larger 
operating segment that are expected to benefit from the business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated 
to the following business segments:

 2014 
R’000 

 2013 
R’000 

Construction  96 355  282 097 
Mining  –  34 779 
Developments  –  – 
Engineering  –  90 510 

 96 355  407 386 

The group tests goodwill for impairment annually, or more frequently if there are indicators that goodwill might be impaired. The 
recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit (CGU) is determined based on value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations. 
The value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a 
one-year period. Cash flows beyond the one-year period are extrapolated to perpetuity using an estimated growth rate as stated 
below. Inputs to the calculations are based on past experience.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2014 are as follows:
 Construction  Mining  Developments  Engineering 

Growth rate ranges (nominal) 0% – 7% 0% – 5% n/a 0% – 7%
Discount rate (nominal) 15,1% 14,1% n/a 14,3% 

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations in 2013 are as follows:

 Construction  Mining  Developments  Engineering 

Growth rate ranges (nominal) 3,5% – 5,0% 3,5% – 5,0% n/a 5% – 10,0%
Discount rate (nominal) 15,2% 15,2% n/a 15,2%
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued
The goodwill is considered to have an indefinite life. Goodwill is tested for impairment and any subsequent losses are taken to the 
income statement.

The impairment charge in the current year is due to the expected financial performances of the Gerolemou/Mvela group, the Blasting & 
Excavating group, the Valente group, LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd and Hytronix (Pty) Ltd. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been 
determined based on value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations. The value-in-use calculations are pre-tax cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a one-year period. For each of the CGUs with a significant 
amount of goodwill the key assumptions, long-term growth rate and discount rate used in the value-in-use calculations are as per the 
table below. In addition, where there has been an impairment loss in a CGU, the recoverable amount is also disclosed below:

Gerolemou/
Mvela group

Blasting &
 Excavating 

group
Valente 

group

LYT 
Architecture 

(Pty) Ltd
Hytronix 
(Pty) Ltd

2014
Revenue (R’000) 1 125 220 571 536 30 112 82 403  11 541 
Operating (loss)/profit (%) (6,2) 0,9 (8,5) 2,7 0,3
Pre-tax discount rate (%) 15,1 14,1 15,1 14,3 14,1
Recoverable amount of the CGU (R’000)  141 580  204 657  22 690  78 754  2 566 
1% change in growth rate* 13 654 37 255 1 318 12 059 977
1% change in discount rate* (11 612) (24 960) (261) (7 998) (656)
1% change in growth and discount rate* (699) 2 931 793 1 361 76

2013
Revenue (R’000) 921 795 415 879 170 229 86 428  n/a 
Operating (loss)/profit (%) 0,7 6,8 (10,1) 15,8  n/a 
Pre-tax discount rate (%) 15,2 15,2 15,2 15,2  n/a 
Recoverable amount of the CGU (R’000)  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a  n/a

Value-in-use and fair value less costs to sell calculations determined according to the method detailed above resulted in the group 
recognising an impairment charge as follows:

 R’000 

Gerolemou/Mvela group  170 240 
Blasting & Excavating group  34 779 
Valente group 15 502
LYT Architecture (Pty) Ltd  82 158 
Hytronix (Pty) Ltd  1 691 

 304 370 

No class of asset other than goodwill was impaired.

The contract-based intangible asset that arose on the acquisition of Sunset Bay Trading 282 (Pty) Ltd has been determined to have 
a finite life based on the expected duration of the property development. It is being amortised over a maximum period of 
120 months, of which 50 months are remaining.

The amortisation charge has been included in “Depreciation, impairment and amortisation” in the income statement.

* Increase/(decrease) in the recoverable amount if the growth rate and the discount rate had been higher or lower by 100 basis points, with all other 
variables held constant.
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 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS
Contract debtors  626 181  762 562 

Contract debtors  634 911  771 446 
Provision for impairment of contract debtors  (8 730)  (8 884)

Trade receivables  116 795  27 939 
Trade receivables  117 774  29 278 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables  (979)  (1 339)

Retention debtors  47 669  54 045 
Retention debtors  52 303  58 410 
Provision for impairment of retention debtors  (4 634)  (4 365)

Work in progress  378 466  129 691 
Costs incurred to date  5 011 498  8 667 324 
Profit recognised to date  234 434  389 159 
Progress payments received and receivable  (4 867 466)  (8 926 792)

 1 169 111  974 237 

Contract debtors to the value of R12 million (2013: R12 million) of Blasting & Excavating (Pty) Ltd are ceded as security for the 
bank overdraft facilities in place. At year-end, the total utilised overdraft facility amounted to Rnil (2013: Rnil).

The age analysis of contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors is as follows:

31 December 2014

Contract debtors

Fully 
performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  252 761  31 970  –  284 731 
Multinational mining companies  14 538  44  –  14 582 
Listed companies  95 198  646  1 716  97 560 
Unlisted companies  183 957  47 059  7 014  238 030 
Individuals  8  –  –  8 

 546 462  79 719  8 730  634 911 

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  31 392  19 612  28 715  79 719 

No security is held against these balances.
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued

Trade receivables

Fully 
performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  96 056  –  –  96 056 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  146  –  –  146 
Unlisted companies  10 442  10 131  979  21 552 
Individuals  20  –  –  20 

 106 664  10 131  979  117 774 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  4 352  5 394  385  10 131 

No security is held against these balances.

Retention debtors

Fully 
performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  26 370  7 494  2 274  36 138 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  9 233  –  1 888  11 121 
Unlisted companies  4 572  –  472  5 044 
Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 40 175  7 494  4 634  52 303 

The age analysis for retention debtors that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  –  –  7 494  7 494 

No security is held against these balances.
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5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued
31 December 2013
Contract debtors

Fully
 performing

R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  439 326  1 734  –  441 060 
Multinational mining companies  73 972  2 176  –  76 148 
Listed companies  101 115  21 371  4 118  126 604 
Unlisted companies  106 739  10 592  4 003  121 334 
Individuals  5 407  130  763  6 300 

 726 559  36 003  8 884  771 446 

The age analysis for contract debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  13 560  14 932  7 511  36 003 

No security was held against these balances.

Trade receivables
Fully 

performing
R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  1 034  –  –  1 034 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  –  –  –  – 
Unlisted companies  18 991  7 914  1 339  28 244 
Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 20 025  7 914  1 339  29 278 

The age analysis for trade receivables balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  –  4 569  3 345  7 914 

No security was held against these balances.
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued
Retention debtors

Fully performing
R’000

Past due but 
not impaired

R’000
Impaired

R’000
Total

R’000

Government  36 706  1 500  2 236  40 442 
Multinational mining companies  –  –  –  – 
Listed companies  15 472  –  2 129  17 601 
Unlisted companies  367  –  –  367 
Individuals  –  –  –  – 

 52 545  1 500  4 365  58 410 

The age analysis for retention debtors balances that are considered past due is as follows:

0 – 3 months
R’000

4 – 6 months
R’000

 7 – 12 months
R’000 

 Total 
R’000

Past due balances  –  –  1 500  1 500 

No security was held against these balances.

The fair values of the group’s contract debtors, trade receivables, retention debtors and work in progress approximate their carrying 
values due to their short-term nature and are denominated in the following currencies:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

South African rand  961 594  738 669 
United States dollar  707  25 720 
Botswana pula  136 574  172 710 
Euro  –  1 541 
British pound  4 297  16 188 
Mozambican meticais  4 677  19 409 
Sierra Leonean leone  8  – 
Zambian kwacha  61 254  – 

 1 169 111  974 237 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of contract debtors are as follows:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

At the beginning of the year  8 884  7 625 
Provision for impairment  1 428  2 756 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible  –  (48)
Unused amounts reversed  (1 636)  (1 724)
Foreign exchange differences  54  275 

 8 730  8 884 
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5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued

Movements on the group provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

At the beginning of the year  1 339  739 
Provision for impairment  –  600 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  –  – 
Unused amounts reversed  (360)  – 

 979  1 339 

Movements on the group provision for impairment of retention debtors are as follows:

 2014 
R’000

 2013
R’000 

At the beginning of the year  4 365  968 
Provision for impairment  269  4 365 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  –  – 
Unused amounts reversed  –  (968)

 4 634  4 365 

The creation and release of provision for impaired contract debtors, trade receivables and retention debtors have been included in 
“Contracting and other costs” in the income statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when 
there is no expectation of recovering amounts due.

The other classes within contract and trade debtors do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The group 
may hold payment guarantees from contract and trade debtors as security.

The group has the following amounts due from top five debtors:

Number of 
customers

Value
R’000

 % of contract 
and trade 

debtors 
 % of total 

revenue 

31 December 2014 5 503 731 43,1% 7,7%

31 December 2013 5 497 860 51,1% 7,9%

The group has the following credit risk per geographical segment:

Region
 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

South Africa  882 302  585 702 
Rest of Africa  246 078  226 151 
Rest of world  40 731  162 384 

 1 169 111  974 237 
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5. CONTRACT AND TRADE DEBTORS continued
The group has classified its contract and trade debtors into the following categories:
➜➜ Government
➜➜ Multinational mining companies
➜➜ Listed companies
➜➜ Unlisted companies
➜➜ Individuals.

Government debtors encompass all debtors to central governments, government institutions and parastatals across all geographies. 
Typically, government debt tends to have little or no risk as default on this type of debt indicates a failed state situation. Different 
countries’ governments will have different levels of risk associated with them, however, depending on the credit rating of the country 
concerned. Examples of government debtors include the government of St Helena, Eskom and SANRAL.

Multinational mining companies refers to large mining corporations that operate across a variety of geographies and tend to be 
blue-chip organisations. Given their relative financial strength, they are generally considered to have a reasonably good credit rating. 
Examples include the De Beers group and Assmang Limited.

Listed companies encompass all companies that are listed on a registered stock exchange in any country. Typically, a listed company 
should have relatively good governance structures and be administered in terms of strict laws and regulations. While it is not 
impossible for a listed entity to fail, given the relative transparency required, it is likely that there would be indicators of distress that 
would allow the group to take corrective action in the event that it would be required. 

Unlisted companies are typically smaller entities that are not listed on a registered stock exchange in any country, and are generally 
considered to be associated with higher levels of credit risk. Indicators of distress may be difficult to identify given the lack of public 
information available for these entities.

Individuals generally carry the highest level of credit risk. Certain of the group’s smaller entities may perform work for individuals but 
this is typically not the group’s core customer group, given the relatively high credit risk.
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 2014 
R’000

 2013 
R’000

6. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
Instalment sale agreements
Total amount outstanding  262 484  301 099 
The instalment sale agreements for plant and equipment bear interest between the prime 
overdraft rate plus 3% and prime less 2% per annum and are repayable in monthly instalments 
of between R2 857 and R1 588 183 over a period of between one and five years.

The agreements are secured by plant and equipment with a book value of  
R378 175 627 (2013: R386 702 181). Refer to note 3 for further details.

Domestic medium-term note programme

Total amount outstanding  227 008  125 301 
On 17 December 2013, the group raised R125 million under this programme. The unlisted 
note, BSR11U, was settled on 20 December 2013 and bears interest at the three-month 
ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate plus 2,10%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable 
on 20 June 2015. The interest rate applicable at year-end was 8,183%.

On 23 July 2015, the group raised R60 million under this programme. The listed note, BSR12, 
was settled on 25 July 2014 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate 
plus 2,65%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 25 January 2016.  
The interest rate applicable at year-end was 8,725%.

On 23 July 2015, the group raised R40 million under this programme. The listed note, BSR13, 
was settled on 25 July 2014 and bears interest at the three-month ZAR-JIBAR-SAFEX rate 
plus 2,90%. Interest is payable quarterly and the capital sum is payable on 25 July 2016. The 
interest rate applicable at year-end was 8,975%.   

 489 492  426 400
Less: Current portion transferred to current liabilities  (273 594)  (163 314)
Instalment sale agreements  (146 586)  (163 013)
Domestic medium-term note programme  (127 008)  (301)

Total non-current interest-bearing borrowings  215 898  263 086 

The present value of future minimum payments on instalment sale agreements is as follows:
Due within the next 12 months  146 586  163 013 
Due between one and five years  115 898  138 086 
Thereafter  –  – 

 262 484  301 099 

The present value of future minimum payments on the domestic medium-term note 
programme is as follows:
Due within the next 12 months  127 008  301 
Due between one and two years  100 000  125 000 
Thereafter  –  – 

 227 008  125 301 

The fair value of interest-bearing borrowings is as follows:
Instalment sale agreements  262 484  301 099 
Domestic medium-term note programme  227 008  125 301 

 489 492  426 400 

The carrying amounts of interest-bearing borrowings are denominated in  
the following currencies:
South African rand  454 394 349 909
Botswana pula  35 098 76 491

 489 492 426 400

The company has R0,9 billion (2013: R1,1 billion) undrawn facilities at the end of the year. These facilities are annual facilities and are 
subject to review at various dates during 2015.
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

 2014
R’000 

 2013 
R’000

7. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating (loss)/profit  (984 691)  324 886 
Adjustment for non-cash items:  740 358  81 884 
Depreciation  342 404  324 292 
Impairment loss  304 370  – 
Write down of development land  80 565  22 572 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (897)  (1 807)
Loss/(profit) on sale of subsidiary  1 818  (288 514)
Loss on sale of jointly controlled entity  –  31 182 
Loss on sale of associate  9 846  – 
Fair value adjustment  1 392  (6 701)
Amortisation of intangible assets  860  860 

Operating cash flow  (244 333)  406 770 
Movements in working capital:  126 003  (122 343)
Inventories  8 891  39 278 
Development land  14 533  16 683 
Contract and trade debtors  (213 866)  (90 620)
Receivables and prepayments  (21 027)  1 790 
Trade and other payables  153 357  (61 210)
Provisions for other liabilities and charges  184 115  (28 264)

Cash generated by operating activities  (118 330)  284 427 

Excluded from the cash flow statement are additions to fixed assets amounting to 
R150,1 million (2013: R42,7 million) which were funded by instalment sale agreements.
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8. SEGMENT REPORT
The company mainly operates in South Africa and sub-Saharan Africa. The company’s client base consists mainly of government and 
mining institutions.

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the strategic executive committee that 
are used to make strategic decisions.

The committee manages the business in terms of four segments: construction, developments, engineering and mining. Assets and 
liabilities are allocated to each of these segments and are managed accordingly.

In terms of revenue and profitability, the construction segment has been further broken down into buildings, civil engineering and 
roads to be consistent with the internal reporting reviewed by the committee.

Although the developments segment does not meet the qualitative thresholds required by IFRS 8, management has concluded that this 
segment should be reported, as it is closely monitored by the strategic executive committee as a growth area with a unique risk profile.

Intersegment revenue is charged at market rates prevailing at the time of the transaction. The revenue from external customers 
reported to the strategic executive committee is measured in a manner consistent with that in the income statement.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to assets are measured in a manner consistent with that 
of the financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the segment and the physical location of the asset.

The amounts provided to the strategic executive committee with respect to liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that 
of the financial statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the segment.

The segment information provided to the strategic executive committee for the reportable segments for the year ended 
31 December 2014 is as follows:

Operating
 profit 

%
Construction

R’000

Develop-
ments
R’000

Engineering
R’000

Mining
R’000

Intersegment 
elimination

R’000
 Total 
R’000

Revenue 4 984 123  223 810 168 178 1 261 574  (135 278)  6 502 407 
Buildings  1 125 220  –  –  –  –  1 125 220 
Civil engineering  1 340 651  –  –  –  (426)  1 340 225 
Roads  2 518 252  –  –  –  (56 519)  2 461 733 
Mining  –  –  –  1 261 574  (60 833)  1 200 741 
Developments  –  223 810  –  –  –  223 810 
Engineering  –  – 168 178  –  (17 500)  150 678 
Operating profit  (13,94)  (732 931)  (64 088)  (103 059)  (6 159)  –  (906 237)
Buildings  (21,37)  (240 404)  –  –  –  –  (240 404)
Civil engineering  (30,19)  (404 603)  –  –  –  –  (404 603)
Roads  (3,57)  (87 924)  –  –  –  –  (87 924)
Mining  (0,51)  –  –  –  (6 159)  –  (6 159)
Developments  (28,64)  –  (64 088)  –  –  –  (64 088)
Engineering  (68,40)  –  –  (103 059)  –  –  (103 059)
Depreciation  (144 141)  (112)  (4 498)  (193 653)  –  (342 404)
Impairment of goodwill  (185 742)  –  (82 158)  (36 470)  –  (304 370)
Net finance income/(costs)  3 842  (12 258)  (523)  (17 263)  –  (26 202)
Property, plant and equipment  563 287  3 073  7 480  506 408  –  1 080 248 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment  144 466  167  3 107  191 334  –  339 074 
Goodwill  96 355  –  –  –  –  96 355 
Inventories  15 034  –  –  18 033  –  33 067 
Cash and cash equivalents  698 638  9 370  1 380  111 191  –  820 579 
Interest-bearing borrowings  292 569  –  –  196 923  –  489 492 
Order book  6 665 274  100 000  –  3 773 675  –  10 538 949 
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Summarised notes to the consolidated financial statements continued

for the year ended 31 December 2014

8. SEGMENT REPORT continued
The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2013 is as follows:

Operating
 profit 

%
Construction

R’000

Develop-
ments
R’000

Engineering
R’000

Mining
R’000

Intersegment 
elimination

R’000
 Total 
R’000

Revenue  4 685 474  69 897 603 726  956 958  (97 903)  6 218 152
Buildings  921 795  –  –  –  –  921 795 
Civil engineering  1 373 307  –  –  –  –  1 373 307 
Roads  2 390 372  –  –  –  (62 528)  2 327 844 
Mining  –  –  –  956 958  (21 597)  935 361 
Developments  –  69 897  –  –  –  69 897 
Engineering  –  – 603 726  –  (13 778) 589 948
Operating profit 0,89  12 057  (16 311) 618  58 864  – 55 228
Buildings  0,68  6 286  –  –  –  –  6 286 
Civil engineering  (2,40)  (32 998)  –  –  –  –  (32 998)
Roads  1,67  38 769  –  –  –  –  38 769 
Mining  6,29  –  –  –  58 864  –  58 864 
Developments  (23,34)  –  (16 311)  –  –  –  (16 311)
Engineering  0,10  –  – 618  –  – 618
Depreciation  (157 441)  (117)  (214)  (166 520)  –  (324 292)
Impairment of goodwill  –  –  –  –  –  – 
Net finance income/(costs)  47 111  (13 585)  3 614  (24 470)  – 12 670
Property, plant and equipment  614 208  3 018  –  520 921  –  1 138 147 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment  195 080  117  –  59 751  – 254 948
Goodwill  282 097  –  90 510  34 779  –  407 386 
Inventories  19 690  –  –  22 268  –  41 958 
Cash and cash equivalents  1 037 413  2 672  73 813  88 586  –  1 202 484 
Interest-bearing borrowings  204 582  –  –  221 818  –  426 400 
Order book  8 165 000  100 000  280 000  3 919 000  –  12 464 000 

Geographic information

2014
%

2013
%

Revenue 
South Africa 77 74
Rest of Africa 10 11
Rest of world 13 15

100 100
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as at 31 December 2014

Shareholders’ information

SHAREHOLDERS’ ANALYSIS
Analysis of ordinary shareholders as at 31 December 2014

Number of 
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number 
of shares

% of shares 
in issue

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
1 – 1 000 shares 1 167 42,64 498 048 0,38
1 001 – 10 000 shares 1 124 41,07 4 101 231 3,11
10 001 – 100 000 shares 302 11,03 10 033 569 7,62
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 117 4,27 34 910 977 26,51
1 000 001 shares and over 27 0,99 82 150 456 62,38

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS
Assurance companies 14 0,51 1 599 530 1,21
Close corporations 34 1,24 686 227 0,52
Collective investment schemes 38 1,39 30 421 763 23,10
Custodians 23 0,84 6 948 186 5,28
Foundations and charitable funds 13 0,47 633 569 0,48
Hedge funds 1 0,04 111 000 0,08
Insurance companies 2 0,07 1 325 736 1,01
Investment partnerships 13 0,47 58 301 0,04
Managed funds 7 0,26 239 496 0,18
Medical aid funds 6 0,22 348 671 0,26
Organs of state 3 0,11 11 439 034 8,69
Private companies 55 2,01 24 324 128 18,47
Public companies 2 0,07 1 559 0,00
Public entities 3 0,11 9 202 983 6,99
Retail shareholders 2 255 82,39 10 817 029 8,23
Retirement benefit funds 108 3,95 21 485 687 16,32
Scrip lending 3 0,11 385 033 0,29
Share scheme 1 0,04 1 667 0,00
Stockbrokers and nominees 14 0,51 2 751 299 2,09
Treasury 1 0,04 18 511 0,01
Trusts 139 5,08 8 894 870 6,75
Unclaimed scrip 2 0,07 2 0,00

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00

PUBLIC AND NON-PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
Basil Read Share Incentive Scheme 1 0,04 20 096 0,02
Major black economic empowerment partners 2 0,07 18 983 056 14,41
Directors (direct and indirect) 2 0,07 106 986 0,08

Non-public shareholders 5 0,18 19 110 138 14,51
Public shareholders 2 732 99,82 112 584 143 85,49

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00
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Number 
of shares

% of shares
in issue

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDINGS (>2%)
Allan Gray 12 227 824 9,29
Government Employees Pension Fund 11 439 034 8,69
Amabubesi Investments 11 099 813 8,43
Industrial Development Corporation 9 090 909 6,90
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (RF) (Pty) Ltd 7 883 243 5,99
PSG 5 325 782 4,04
Prudential 3 820 349 2,90
Sentinel Mining Industry Retirement Funds 3 488 458 2,65
Pictet et cie Banquiers (custodian) 3 414 592 2,59
Sanlam Group 2 974 565 2,26
Cedar Falls Properties 204 (Pty) Ltd 2 783 211 2,11

Total 73 547 780 55,85

TOP FIVE FUND MANAGERS
Allan Gray 27 406 775 20,81
Prudential Portfolio Management 12 741 134 9,67
Argon Asset Management 8 428 371 6,40
Public Investment Corporation 7 798 500 5,92
PSG Alphen Asset Management 6 303 275 4,79

Total 62 678 055 47,59

Number of 
shareholders

% of total
shareholdings

Number 
of shares

% of shares 
in issue

SHAREHOLDER ANALYSIS ACCORDING  
TO COUNTRY
South Africa  2 688 98,20 123 618 000 93,87
Switzerland  3 0,11 3 441 492 2,61
United Kingdom  13 0,47 2 579 180 1,96
United States  4 0,15 726 758 0,55
Swaziland  3 0,11 724 745 0,55
Namibia  14 0,51 380 641 0,29
Luxembourg  2 0,07 76 412 0,06
Belgium  1 0,04 56 898 0,04
Netherlands  1 0,04 33 146 0,03
Germany  1 0,04 23 000 0,02
Botswana  4 0,15 15 729 0,01
France  1 0,04 15 000 0,01
Zimbabwe  2 0,07 3 280 0,00

Total 2 737 100,00 131 694 281 100,00

Total number of shareholdings 2 737

Total number of shares in issue 131 694 281

as at 31 December 2014
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JSE SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
Opening price 2 January 2014 R8,50
Closing price 31 December 2014 R4,20
Closing high for the period (24 April 2014) R9,44
Closing low for the period (15 and 17 December 2014) R3,95
Number of shares in issue 131 694 281
Volume traded during period 50 450 484
Total deals 11 898
Rand value of shares traded R348 957 852
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 38,31%
PE ratio (4,15)
Earnings yield (%) (24,11)

Analysis of “A” ordinary shareholders as at 31 December 2014

Number of 
shareholders

 of total
shareholdings

Number 
of shares

% of shares 
in issue

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
1 – 1 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
1 001 – 10 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
10 001 – 100 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 0 0,00 0 0,00
1 000 001 shares and over 1 100,00 33 607 507 100,00

Total 1 100,00 33 607 507 100,00

Number of 
shareholders

Number 
of shares

% 
held

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDINGS (>2%)
SIOC CDT Investment Holdings (RF) (Pty) Ltd 1 33 607 507 100,00

Total 1 33 607 507 100,00

Total number of shareholdings 1

Total number of shares in issue 33 607 507
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number: 1984/007758/06)
Share code: BSR ISIN: ZAE000029781
(Basil Read or the company)

Notice is hereby given that the 30th annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders of Basil Read will be held at 10:00 on Tuesday, 
23 June 2015 at Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg, for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, 
with or without modification, the resolutions set out below. 

If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following resolutions, please consult your central securities 
depository participant (CSDP), broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

The board of directors of the company (the board) has determined that, in terms of section 62(3)(a), as read with section 59 of the 
Companies Act, 71 of 2008 (Companies Act), as amended:
(a)  this notice has been sent to shareholders of the company who were recorded as such in the securities register on Monday, 

15 May 2015, being the notice record date for determining which shareholders are entitled to receive notice of the AGM; and
(b)  the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the company are entitled to participate in and vote at the 

AGM is Friday, 12 June 2015. Accordingly, the last day to trade in Basil Read shares to be recorded in the register to be entitled to vote 
will be Friday, 5 June 2015.

PRESENTATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
To present the audited annual financial statements of the company and the group, for the year ended 31 December 2014, including 
the directors’ report, the audit committee report and the report of the independent auditors, and to confirm all matters and actions 
undertaken and discharged by the directors on behalf of the company. The annual financial statements are available on the company’s 
website: www.basilread.co.za.

ORDINARY BUSINESS 
Percentage of voting rights – ordinary resolutions 
Ordinary resolutions number 1 to 5, contained in the notice of AGM, require the approval of a minimum of 50% plus one vote of votes 
exercisable on resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM for the resolution to be adopted. 

Ordinary resolution number 5 is proposed for a non-binding advisory vote only and any failure to pass this resolution will not have an 
effect on the company’s existing arrangements, but the outcome of the vote will be considered when determining the company’s 
remuneration policy. 

1.  ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
 Reappointment of independent auditors 
  Resolved to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc (PwC) as independent auditors of the company, and to appoint Mr Faan Lombard 

as the individual designated auditor, to hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM in terms of section 90(1) of the Companies 
Act, on recommendation of the audit committee, and to authorise the directors to determine the auditors’ remuneration.

 Motivation 
  PwC has indicated its willingness to continue in office and ordinary resolution 1 proposes reappointing the firm as Basil Read’s auditor 

until the conclusion of the next AGM.

  At the meeting on 22 April 2015, the audit committee considered the independence of the auditor, PwC, in accordance with section 
94(8) of the Companies Act and as prescribed by the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors established by the Auditing 
Profession Act and was satisfied that PwC is independent. 

  The audit committee nominates PwC for reappointment as registered auditor of the group.

  Furthermore, the audit committee has, in terms of paragraph 3.86 of the JSE listings requirements, considered and satisfied itself that 
PwC, the reporting accountant and the individual auditor are accredited to appear on the JSE list of auditors and advisers, in 
compliance with section 22 of the JSE listings requirements.

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2 
  Election of directors 
  To elect, by way of separate resolutions, directors in terms of the provisions of article 28.2 of the memorandum of incorporation 

(MoI) of the company. The following directors, being eligible, offer themselves for election: 
 2.1  Resolved that DLT Dondur, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers herself for election, 

be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect
 2.2  Resolved that NF Nicolau, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for election, 

be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect
 2.3  Resolved that AC Wightman, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers herself for election, 

be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect
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 2.4  Resolved that TD Hughes, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for election, 
be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect

 2.5  Resolved that MSI Gani, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for election, 
be elected as a director of the company with immediate effect.

  Motivation
  In terms of the Companies Act and clause 28.5 of the company’s MoI, directors who are appointed by the board (as opposed to 

being elected by shareholders) serve as directors of the company temporarily until elected by shareholders at the next AGM 
following appointment by the board. Ms Dondur, Mr Nicolau, Ms Wightman, Mr Hughes and Mr Gani were all appointed by the board 
and accordingly retire from the temporary appointment from the date of the AGM on Tuesday, 23 June 2015. All are eligible for 
election to the board and have made themselves available for election by shareholders. The board recommends their election. 
Résumés for each of the directors offering themselves for re-election are set out on page 8 of the integrated report 2014.

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3 
  Rotation of non-executive directors 
  To elect, by way of separate resolutions, non-executive directors retiring by rotation in terms of the provisions of article 28.8 of the 

MoI of the company. The following non-executive directors retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:
 3.1  Resolved that Dr CE Manning, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election, 

be re-elected as a director of the company with immediate effect.
 3.2  Resolved that PC Baloyi, who retires in accordance with the company’s MoI and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, be 

re-elected as a director of the company with immediate effect.

  Motivation 
  In terms of the MoI of the company, one-third of non-executive directors are required to retire at each AGM of the company. There 

are currently 10 directors (two of whom are executives and disregarded when determining the number of directors to retire by 
rotation) on the board and accordingly, two directors are required to retire at the AGM.

  The directors to retire are selected from those who have served longest in time since their last election or re-election. Mr Baloyi and 
Dr Manning have served the longest since their election and therefore retire by rotation. They are entitled to and have offered 
themselves for re-election. The board recommends the re-election of these directors and their résumés appear on page 8 of the 
integrated report 2014. 

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4 
  Election of audit committee members 
  To elect, by way of separate resolutions, non-executive directors as members of the audit committee in terms of section 94 of the 

Companies Act. The board has determined that each of the members standing for appointment has the required qualifications and 
experience as determined by the board. The following non-executive directors, each being eligible, offer themselves for election: 

 4.1  Resolved that DLT Dondur, who offers herself for election to the audit committee, be elected as a member of the audit 
committee of the company with immediate effect

 4.2  Resolved that SS Ntsaluba, who offers himself for election to the audit committee, be re-elected as a member of the audit 
committee of the company with immediate effect

 4.3  Resolved that Dr CE Manning, who offers herself for election to the audit committee, be elected as a member of the audit 
committee of the company with immediate effect

 4.4  Resolved that MSI Gani, who offers himself for election to the audit committee, be elected as a member of the audit committee 
of the company with immediate effect.

 Motivation 
  In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the audit committee is elected by the shareholders at each AGM. Chapter 3 of the 

King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 (King III) likewise requires the shareholders of a public company to elect the 
members of an audit committee at each AGM.

  The board recommends to shareholders the re-election of these directors and their résumés are included on page 8 of the integrated 
report 2014. 

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5 
 Approval of remuneration policy 
  Resolved that in accordance with principle 2.27 of King III, shareholders approve the company’s remuneration policy by way of a 

non-binding advisory note. The non-binding vote enables shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policy adopted 
by the company and on its implementation. 

 Motivation 
  In terms of King III recommendations, by tabling the company’s remuneration policy for a non-binding advisory vote at the AGM, 

shareholders are able to express their views on these policies. The detailed remuneration policy, for which approval is sought, is 
included in the remuneration report on pages 68 to 77 of the integrated report 2014 to which this notice is attached. 

 Accordingly, shareholders are requested to endorse the company’s remuneration policy.
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 SPECIAL BUSINESS – SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
 Percentage of voting rights 
  Special resolution number 1 in this notice of AGM requires approval of a minimum of 75% of the votes exercised on the resolution by 

shareholders present or represented by proxy at the AGM for the resolution to be adopted. 

6. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1 
 Remuneration of non-executive directors
  Resolved that, in terms of the provisions of sections 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, and on the recommendation of the 

remuneration committee of the company, the annual remuneration payable to non-executive directors of the company for their 
services as directors for the financial year ended 31 December 2015, be and is hereby approved as set out on page 110 of the 
integrated report to which this notice is attached.

 Motivation 
  In terms of section 66(8) and (9) of the Companies Act, the company is required to obtain approval of shareholders by way of special 

resolution for the payment of remuneration to its non-executive directors for services rendered as directors. The board carried out an 
independent benchmark exercise during the year and decided to keep the current remuneration levels unchanged for 2015. 

7. ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 To transact such other business as may be transacted at the AGM of the company.

 Voting and proxies
  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and act in his/her stead. 

A proxy need not be a member of the company. For the convenience of registered members of the company, a form of proxy 
is attached.

 The form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:
➜➜ Hold ordinary shares in certificated form; or
➜➜ Are recorded on the subregister in “own name” dematerialised form.

  Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP/broker without “own name” registration and 
who wish to attend the AGM, must instruct their CSDP/broker to provide them with the relevant letter of representation to attend 
the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend in person or by proxy, they must provide the CSDP/broker 
with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement between them and the CSDP/broker.

  Forms of proxy should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd, at least 48 hours, 
excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the time of the meeting. 

  Kindly note that meeting participants, including proxies, are required to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being 
entitled to attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting. Forms of identification include valid identity documents, driver licences 
and passports.

By order of the board

Andiswa Ndoni
Company secretary

8 May 2015
Boksburg
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(Registration number: 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR ISIN: ZAE000029781
(Basil Read or the company)
For use only by ordinary shareholders who:
➜➜ Hold ordinary shares in certificated form (certificated ordinary shareholders) or
➜➜ Have dematerialised their ordinary shares (dematerialised ordinary shareholders) and are registered with “own name” registration

at the 30th annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders of the company to be held at Basil Read Campus, 7 Romeo Street, Hughes Extension, Boksburg, at 10:00 on Tuesday,  
23 June 2015 and any adjournment.
Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own name” registration who wish to attend the AGM must inform their central securities depository 
participant (CSDP) or broker of their intention to attend the AGM and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter of representation to attend the AGM in 
person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the AGM in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP/broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant 
custody agreement between them and the CSDP or broker. These ordinary shareholders must not use this form of proxy.

Name of beneficial shareholder

Name of registered shareholder

Address

Telephone work (   ) Telephone home  (   ) Cell

being the holder/custodian of ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see note):

1. or failing him/her

2. or failing him/her

3. the chairperson of the meeting,
as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the AGM of the company convened for the purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without 
modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to be proposed at that meeting and at each postponement or adjournment, and to vote for/against such resolutions, and/or abstain from 
voting, in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the company registered in my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

Number of ordinary shares

For Against Abstain

1. Ordinary resolution number 1
To reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc as auditors of the company together with Mr Faan Lombard as the registered auditor for the ensuing financial year

2. Ordinary resolution number 2

2.1 To confirm the appointment of DLT Dondur as director of the company

2.2 To confirm the appointment of NF Nicolau as director of the company 

2.3 To confirm the appointment of AC Wightman as director of the company

2.4 To confirm the appointment of TD Hughes as director of the company

2.5 To confirm the appointment of MSI Gani as director of the company

3. Ordinary resolution number 3

3.1 To approve the re-election of CE Manning who retires by rotation 

3.2 To approve the re-election of PC Baloyi who retires by rotation 

4. Ordinary resolution number 4 

4.1 To approve the appointment of DLT Dondur as member of the audit committee

4.2 To approve the appointment of SS Ntsaluba as member of the audit committee

4.3 To approve the appointment of CE Manning as member of the audit committee

4.4 To approve the appointment of MSI Gani as member of the audit committee

5. Ordinary resolution number 5 
Approval of remuneration policy

6. Special resolution number 1
Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration for the financial year ending 31 December 2015

7. Any other business
To transact such other business as may be transacted at the AGM of the company

Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by inserting the relevant number of exercisable votes.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxies to attend and act in his stead. A proxy so appointed need not be a member of the company.

Signed at on 2015

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)

Form of proxy
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Notes to form of proxy

 1.  The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the 
subregister in electronic form in “own name”.

 2.  All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the AGM must provide the 
CSDP/broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement between them and the CSDP/broker.

 3.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies (none of whom 
need be a shareholder of the company) of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the 
meeting”. The person whose name is first on this form of proxy and who is present at the AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion 
of those proxies(ies) whose names follow. Should this space be left blank, the proxy will be exercised by the chairperson of the meeting. 

 4.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote for each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s instructions to 
the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the space provided. If an “X” has been 
inserted in one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate voting of all shares held by that shareholder. Failure to comply with this will 
be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the AGM as he/she deems fit in respect of the shareholder’s entire 
exercisable votes. A shareholder or proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder or proxy, but the total of votes cast 
and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total of votes exercisable by the shareholder or proxy.

 5.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy will be valid for the AGM despite the death, insanity or other legal disability of the 
person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares for which the proxy is given, unless notice of 
any of these matters has been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 48 hours before the start of the AGM.

 6.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from 
voting, or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly be put before 
the AGM be proposed, such proxy will be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

 7.  The chairperson of the AGM may reject or accept any form of proxy that is completed and/or received other than in compliance with 
these notes.

 8.  A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairperson of the AGM, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, will be deemed 
to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the AGM.

 9.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM and speaking 
and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed.

10.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached, 
unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the AGM.

11.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant 
documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the company.

12.  Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:
➜➜ Any one holder may sign the form of proxy;
➜➜ The vote(s) of the senior ordinary shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which names of 
ordinary shareholders appear in the company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tender a vote (whether in person or by 
proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

13.  Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd:
 Hand deliveries to: Postal deliveries to:
 Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd
 13th floor PO Box 4844
 Rennie House Johannesburg
 19 Ameshoff Street 2000
 Braamfontein 
  to be received by no later than 10:00 on Friday, 19 June 2014 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the AGM which date, if 

necessary, will be notified on SENS).
14.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction 

must be signed and not merely initialled.

Summary of the rights of a shareholder to be represented by proxy, as set out in section 58 of the Companies Act
 A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder appointing a proxy, and, subject to the rights of a shareholder 
to revoke such appointment (as set out below), remains valid only until the end of the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

 A proxy may delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a shareholder to another person, subject to any restrictions set out in the 
instrument appointing the proxy.

 The appointment of a proxy is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder who appointed such proxy chooses to act 
directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a shareholder.

 The appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder in question cancelling it in writing, or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy, 
and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy and to the company. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete 
and final cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the later of (a) the date stated in the revocation instrument, if 
any; and (b) the date on which the revocation instrument is delivered to the company as required in the first sentence of this paragraph.

If the instrument appointing the proxy or proxies has been delivered to the company, as long as that appointment remains in effect, any 
notice that is required by the Companies Act or the company’s memorandum of incorporation to be delivered by the company to the 
shareholder, must be delivered by the company to (a) the shareholder, or (b) the proxy or proxies, if the shareholder has (i) directed the 
company to do so in writing; and (ii) paid any reasonable fee charged by the company for doing so.

Attention is also drawn to the notes to the form of proxy above.

The completion of a form of proxy does not preclude any shareholder from attending the AGM. 
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GRI index

This index includes the 2009 GRI guidelines (G3.1) and 2010 construction and real estate sector supplement

GRI element Topic Page

Strategy and analysis

1.1 Statement from CEO 28

1.2 Key impacts, risks and opportunities 18

Organisational profile

2.1 to 2.10 Name and business 1 to 6

Report parameters

3.1 to 3.3 Reporting period 1

3.4 Contact points administration

3.5 to 3.11 Process for defining report content 1

3.12 GRI index 145

3.13 Policy and practice on external assurance 1

Governance, commitments and engagement

4.1 to 4.10 Governance structure and process 54 to 61

4.11 Precautionary approach 78

4.12 External principles endorsed 93

4.13 Membership of industry associations and advocacy groups 93; 110

4.14 to 4.17 Stakeholder groups 17

Economic

EC1 Economic value generated and distributed 39

EC2 Financial implications, risks and opportunities due to climate change and other 
sustainability issues

100

EC3 Coverage of defined benefit plan obligations 72

EC4 Significant financial assistance from government zero

EC5 Standard entry-level wage compared to local minimum wage nr

EC6 Policy, practices, and spending on local suppliers 96

EC7 Procedures for local hiring, proportion of senior management and all direct 
employees, contractors and subcontractors hired from local community

94

EC8 Development and impact of infrastructure investments and services for public 
benefit

101

EC9 Significant indirect economic impacts 101

nr – not reported
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GRI index continued

GRI element Topic Page

Environment

EN1 to EN2 Materials nr

EN3 to EN7 Energy 98 to 99

EN8 to EN10 Water 99

EN11 to EN15 Biodiversity n/a

EN16 to EN23
CE3 to CRE5

Emissions, effluents, and waste 100

EN26 to EN27 Products and services n/a

Compliance

EN28 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with environmental laws and 
regulations zero

Transport

EN29 Significant impacts of transporting products, and members of workforce 99

EN30 Total environmental protection expenditures and investments by type nr

Social performance: labour practices and decent work

LA1 Workforce by employment type, employment contract, gender and region 95

LA2 Number and rate of new employee hires and employee turnover by age 
group, gender, and region nr

LA3 Benefits for full-time employees not provided to temporary/part-time 
employees 93

LA15 Return to work and retention rates after parental leave, by gender nr

Labour/management relations

LA4 Percentage employees covered by collective bargaining agreements nr

LA5 
Minimum notice period on significant changes, including specified in collective 
agreements nr

Occupational health and safety

LA6 
Percentage workforce represented in formal joint H&S committees to monitor 
and advise on programmes 84

LA7 
Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, absenteeism, work-related 
fatalities broken down by employees, supervised employees and independent 
contractors 84 to 87

CRE6
Percentage of organisation operating in verified compliance with internationally 
recognised health and safety management system, eg OHSAS 180001 or 
equivalent 84

LA8 
Education, training, counselling, prevention, and risk control programmes to 
assist workforce members, their families or community members with serious 
diseases 84

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions 86

nr – not reported

146 Basil Read  
integrated report 2014

  



GRI element Topic Page

Training and education

LA10 
Average hours of training per year per employee, by gender and by employee 
category 90

LA11 
Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning that support 
continued employability 91

LA12 
Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career 
development reviews nr

Diversity and equal opportunity

LA13 
Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per 
category: gender, age group, minority group membership, and other indicators 
of diversity 

95

LA14 Ratio of basic salary of men to women by employee category nr

Social performance: human rights

HR1 to HR3 Investment and procurement practices nr

Non-discrimination

HR4 Total number of incidents of discrimination and actions taken zero

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

HR5 
Operations where right to freedom of association and collective bargaining at 
significant risk, actions to support rights zero

HR6 
Operations with significant risk for incidents of child labour, measures to 
eliminate zero

HR7 
Operations with significant risk of forced or compulsory labour, measures to 
eliminate zero

Security practices

HR8 
Percentage security personnel trained in policies/procedures on human rights 
relevant to operations nr

Indigenous rights

HR9 Number of violations involving rights of indigenous people and actions taken zero

HR10
Percentage and number of operations subject to human rights reviews and/or 
impact assessments n/a

HR11
Number of grievances related to human rights filed, addressed and resolved 
through formal mechanisms zero

nr – not reported
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GRI element Topic Page

Social performance: society

Community

SO1 
Percentage of operations with implemented local community engagement, impact 
assessments, and development programmes 100

SO9
Operations with significant potential or actual negative and positive impacts on 
local communities 101

SO10
Prevention and mitigation measures implemented in operations with significant 
potential or actual negative impacts on local communities

101

CRE7
Number of persons voluntarily and involuntarily displaced and/or resettled by 
development, broken down by project nr

SO2 to CO4 Corruption 66

SO5 to SO6 Public policy nr

Anti-competitive behaviour

SO7 
Legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust and monopoly practices, 
outcomes 18

Compliance

SO8 Significant fines, sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations 18

Social performance: product responsibility 

PR1 to PR2 Customer health and safety nr

PR3 to PR5
CRE8

Products and service labelling n/a

Marketing communications

PR6 Programmes for adherence to laws, standards, and voluntary codes 55

PR7 Incidents of non-compliance zero

Customer privacy

PR8 
Substantiated complaints on breaches of customer privacy and losses of 
customer data zero

Compliance

PR9 
Significant fines for non-compliance with laws and regulations concerning 
provision and use of products and services

zero

nr – not reported
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BASIL READ HOLDINGS LIMITED
Registration number: 1984/007758/06
Share code: BSR
ISIN: ZAE000029781

REGISTERED OFFICE
Basil Read Campus
7 Romeo Street
Hughes Extension
Boksburg, 1459

Private Bag X170 Bedfordview, 2008
Tel: +27 11 418 6300
Fax: +27 11 418 6334
Email: communications@basilread.co.za

COMPANY SECRETARY
Andiswa Ndoni

SPONSOR
Grindrod Bank
4th floor, Grindrod Tower
8A Protea Place
Sandton, 2146

BANKERS
Nedbank Corporate Banking – Gauteng
1st floor
Corporate Place Nedbank
135 Rivonia Road
Sandown, 2196

First National Bank of Southern Africa Limited
5th floor
No 3 First Place
Bank City
Harrison Street
Johannesburg, 2001

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Link Market Services
13th floor, Rennie House
19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein

Administration

BASTION GRAPHICS

DISCLAIMER
Opinions expressed in this report are, by nature, subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Changing information or circumstances may cause 
the actual results, plans and objectives of Basil Read to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements. Financial forecasts 
and data in this report are estimates which at times are based on reports prepared by experts who, in turn, may have relied on management estimates. 
Undue reliance should not be placed on such opinions, forecasts or data. No representation is made on the completeness or correctness of opinions, 
forecasts or data in this report. Neither the company nor any of its affiliates, advisers or representatives accept any responsibility for any loss arising from the 
use of any opinion expressed, forecast or data in this report. Forward-looking statements apply only as of the date on which they are made and the company 
does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any of its opinions or forward-looking statements, whether to reflect new data or future events 
or circumstances. The financial information on which the forward-looking statements are based has not been audited nor reported on by the company’s 
independent external auditors.

Financial year-end 31 December

Annual general meeting 23 June 2015

REPORTS

Half-year interim report August 2015

Audited results March 2016

Shareholders’ diary
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